# Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

9-20-2016

# Andrews v. Industrial Special Indem. Fund Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44241

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### Nature of the Case

This is a case involving a claim against the Industrial Special Indemnity Fund ("ISIF").

In filing this appeal, Claimant/Appellant Steven Andrews asserts the Idaho Industrial Commission and Referee Michael E. Powers erred in finding and concluding that Mr. Andrews' total and permanent disability is solely due to the March 17, 2009 accident and ISIF is not liable.

## The Course of the Proceedings Below

On or about November 8, 2010 Mr. Andrews filed his initial Workers' Compensation Complaint. *R. 1-4*. Thereafter on November 19, 2010 the Corporation of the President of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter Day Saints filed its Answer to Complaint. *R. 4-5*. On approximately November 16, 2011 a settlement agreement was reached between Mr. Andrews and the Corporation of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter Day Saints, and an Order of Approval and Discharge was signed by the Industrial Commission on November 29, 2011. On November 25, 2011 Mr. Andrews filed his Workers' Compensation Complaint Against the Industrial Special Indemnity Fund ("ISIF"). *R. 6.* Thereafter on December 12, 2011 ISIF filed its Answer to Complaint. *R. 7-8*.

A hearing was held before Referee Michael E. Powers on June 16, 2015 in Pocatello. Mr. Andrews presented live testimony at the hearing. Post-hearing depositions were taken of Mr. Andrews' expert witnesses Hugh Selznick, M.D. and Nancy Collins, Ph.D., and ISIF's witness Delyn Porter. On October 9, 2015 Mr. Andrews filed Claimant's Opening Brief, and on October 27, 2015 ISIF filed its Closing Brief. On November 9, 2015 Mr. Andrews filed his Closing Brief. Appellant's Opening Brief - Page 1 On May 10, 2016 Referee Michael Powers issued his Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Recommendation, finding in favor of ISIF and against Mr. Andrews. *R. 9-31*. Referee Power's decision was adopted by the Industrial Commission in its Order on the same day, May 10, 2016. *R. 32-33*.

## Statement of Facts

Claimant/Appellant, Steven Andrews, is currently 58 years old. Mr. Andrews graduated from Marsh Valley High School in 1977. Hearing transcript, pp. 12 and 14. Following graduation from high school, Mr. Andrews worked for Pocatello Sod doing landscaping and laying sod. The following year he took another landscaping job at Pocatello Greenhouse. After a few months at Pocatello Greenhouse, Mr. Andrews moved to New Mexico and worked for a short time at AMF Tuboscope, a pipe surveying company, surveying pipes for cracks or leaks. Mr. Andrews was at AMF Tuboscope for about three weeks before he secured a job at Dowell, an oil field fracking company, driving truck. Id., pp. 15-16. In approximately 1980, Mr. Andrews took a two week defensive driving course and obtained his Commercial Driver's License. Id., p. 14. After driving truck for Dowell for about a year, Mr. Andrews took a new job driving truck for Southwest Building Block. He worked at Southwest Building Block for approximately two years. Id., p. 16. In the early '80s Mr. Andrews lost his job at Southwest Building Block and he and his family moved back to Idaho. Upon returning to Idaho, Mr. Andrews found work at Creative Landscaping in Pocatello. In 1983, Mr. Andrews was in an industrial accident where a slab of concrete fell on his right knee damaging and loosening tendons and causing very severe damage to his knee. Following that **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF - PAGE 2** 

accident, an anterior cruciate repair including arthroscopy and meniscectomy and medial collateral ligament repair was performed. Several years later, in 1989, he had to have an anterior cruciate reconstruction surgery on his right knee. *See Claimant's Exhibit B, Medical Records Review, p. 2.* Unfortunately Mr. Andrews continues to experience pain in his right knee and walks with a limp. Additionally due to pain and instability in his right knee, Mr. Andrews has difficulty walking on uneven surfaces, walking downhill and driving a vehicle with a clutch. *Hearing transcript, pp. 16-17.* 

After his knee injury in 1983, Mr. Andrews was no longer able to do landscaping work, and he obtained a job as grounds supervisor for State Hospital South in Blackfoot through the Industrial Commission. His job duties included monitoring the grounds crew, maintenance of the irrigation system, and some pruning, as well as snow removal during the winter. Mr. Andrews worked at State Hospital South for approximately four years. *Id., p. 18.* During his time at State Hospital South, in approximately 1985, Mr. Andrews strained his low back while working on a snow plow. He was seen by Dr. Marafioti, who released him to return to work with no restrictions.

In 1988 Mr. Andrews was offered a job at the LDS Church. When he started the job he was doing custodial work, but he eventually moved up to doing maintenance of the HVAC systems and monitoring and repairing drinking fountains, toilets, lighting and electrical, as well as programming and repairing the computerized door locks. During his time working at the LDS Church Mr. Andrews took care of between 6 and 42 church buildings. Mr. Andrews loved working for the LDS

Church and worked there for nearly 23 years. Id., pp. 19-21. Unfortunately during his time at the LDS Church Mr. Andrews had quite a few accidents and injuries, including low back injuries while trying to lift a piano, trying to hold a retaining wall, moving a table and moving a bookshelf. He also suffered a back injury and re-injured his right knee when he slipped and fell while trying to carry a toilet off of the roof of a seminary building. In the early 1990s Mr. Andrews underwent two low back surgeries in which they performed a discectomy, laminectomy, and neurosurgery on his spine to remove scar tissue. Id., p. 26. In 2007 Dr. Clark Allen in Pocatello performed a third surgery, a lumbar discectomy, and following the surgery gave Mr. Andrews permission to return to work with a 25 pound lifting restriction and frequent changes in position. See Claimant's Hearing Exhibit D (Andrews 81). In March of 2009, Mr. Andrews severely re-injured his back and aggravated his knee injury when he fell off of a ladder at a church building and fell from the upper mezzanine room onto the stage floor. Mr. Andrews was again treated for his back injury by Dr. Allen. Dr. Allen initially believed Mr. Andrews had herniated disks in his back and performed an operation on Mr. Andrews to repair the disks. During the surgery Dr. Allen discovered that Mr. Andrews actually had a cracked vertebrae. Dr. Allen placed three sets of rods in Mr. Andrews low back, and also trimmed scar tissue from his spinal cord, which was residual from his past back injuries. Hearing transcript, pp. 22-27.

Following the surgery in 2009, Mr. Andrews planned to return to work for the LDS Church with the additional restrictions that Dr. Allen had imposed following his 2009 surgery. However when he attempted to return to work, the LDS Church informed him that they felt they could no APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF - PAGE 4

longer employ him because due to his restrictions and physical disabilities he was too great a risk. *Id.*, *27-28*.

After being informed that he could not return to work for the LDS Church, Mr. Andrews began working with the Industrial Commission to find a job. He applied for maintenance positions at all of the school districts in Southeast Idaho, he also applied for a maintenance job at the Pocatello Women's Correctional Facility and ON Semiconductor. However despite his willingness to return to work, Mr. Andrews was turned down by every potential employer due to his physical limitations. *Id., pp. 29-30.* Mr. Andrews also researched the possibility of renewing his CDL license and driving truck, however he discovered that he would be unable to obtain a CDL license due to the prescription medication he is taking. Mr. Andrews has also had to concede that realistically he would physically be unable to drive truck because due to his back pain he would be unable to sit in one position for prolonged periods of time, and it would also be a challenge for him to climb up into the cab of a truck with his knee pain, stiffness, immobility, back pain and foot problems. *Id., pp. 30-32.* 

In his notes on December 7, 2011, with regard to Mr. Andrews' pre-existing conditions, his 2009 industrial accident and his ability to return to work, Dr. Allen stated as follows:

I reviewed the films with him and showed him the area of scar and the clumping of the roots. I think this is contributing to his residual leg symptoms and the increasing problems in his leg.

Mr. Andrews during his working years has undergone four spinal surgeries and returned to work each time. The last surgery gave him some stability but he has residual symptoms that have kept him from working. I understand he

has filed for SSD. It is my opinion that he should be looked upon favorably for this determination as the ability of him to return to gainful employment is poor. I have communicated this to him.

## See Claimant's Hearing Exhibit D (Andrews 171)

Currently, as previously indicated, Mr. Andrews has back pain and stiffness caused by work related injuries and subsequent surgeries, as well as knee pain and instability related the injuries mentioned above. In addition, Mr. Andrews has nerve damage with associated toe drop in his left leg. *Id., p. 33.* In the late '80s Mr. Andrews had several foot surgeries due to "turf toe", which is a sprain of the ligaments around the big toe joint. Mr. Andrews' turf toe condition was caused by crawling through steam tunnels at AMF Tuboscope and from kneeling with his weight on his toes. *May 29, 2012 Deposition of Steven L. Andrews, p. 16.* Since his surgeries, Mr. Andrews has developed arthritis in his feet as well, and currently experiences foot pain and is unable to wear normal shoes. *Hearing transcript, pp. 34-35.* 

Additionally, Mr. Andrews has had impinged tendons, or "burrs" on both shoulders caused by doing excessive overhead work such as replacing lights and ballasts, and he has had bilateral shoulder surgeries to release the impingements. He is now able to do only very limited overhead work and has difficulty lifting his arms above his head. *Id., pp. 41-42*.

Mr. Andrews also has a bad disk in his neck, making it difficult for him to sit at a computer for any length of time. It also limits the mobility in his neck and his ability to turn his head. *Id., pp. 42-43* 

As previously stated, Mr. Andrews currently has very limited mobility in his back and neck and he is unable to twist or bend. This has made personal hygiene and activities of daily living very difficult for him. *Id., pp. 40-41.* 

Despite Mr. Andrews' desire and willingness to continue working, he is completely and totally disabled due to injuries and problems with not only his back, but also his neck, shoulders, knees, legs and feet.

Claimant/Appellant Steven Andrews retained orthopedic surgeon Hugh Selznick, M.D. and vocational rehabilitation expert Nancy Collins, Ph.D. as his experts in this matter. Defendant/Respondent ISIF retained Delyn Porter as their vocation rehabilitation expert. The experts' reports and testimony are summarized as follows:

### 1. Hugh Selznick, M.D.

Dr. Hugh Selznick is a physician practicing in Pocatello and Blackfoot, Idaho as well as Las Vegas, Nevada. He is a board certified orthopedic surgeon, with a license to practice medicine in Idaho, Utah, Nevada, New York, Washington and California.

Dr. Selznick performed a thorough medical records review and an interview and independent medical evaluation of Steven Andrews in 2011. Dr. Selznick's post-hearing deposition was completed on September 1, 2015 wherein he reiterated and affirmed the opinions set forth in the initial March 30, 2011 report and the supplemental report he issued on May 26, 2011. And were opinions he held with reasonable medical probability.

In his deposition, Dr. Selznick stated that in his medical records review and discussions with Mr. Andrews he found that Mr. Andrews has had prior low back issues, prior knee issues, issues with both his shoulders and a hallux toe. He assigned between 5% to 10% to Mr. Andrews' right knee; 1% to 2% for Mr. Andrews' right knee; 1% to 2% for Mr. Andrews' left knee; 3% to 4% for Mr. Andrews' right shoulder surgery; 3% to 4% for Mr. Andrews' left shoulder surgery; and 2% for his right big toe surgery. *Id., p. 11, l. 15 to p. 14, l. 24*.

With regard to the injuries Mr. Andrews sustained in the March 17, 2009 industrial accident,

Dr Selznick testified as follows:

- Q. And as a result of that accident, did you determine whether or not Mr. Andrews sustained industrial injuries?
- A. Yes.
- Q. And what were the industrial injuries that he sustained?
- A. It was my, and remains my opinion, that he sustained injury to his low back, most notably structural injury which then necessitated his L3 to S1 fusion.
- Q. And was there an exacerbation to his right knee?
- A. As you are aware, after subject incident on 03/17/09, he had left greater than right lower extremity issues. Despite initial conservative treatment for his low back and radicular complaints, including injections, he had surgery, which I just mentioned, the L3 to S1 instrumented fusion. Unfortunately, although improved, he still had persistent left -- and I repeat, left lower extremity complaints. The records bear that out. And it is in this setting that his right knee became more and progressively symptomatic; so I do think he did have hastening of his right knee symptomatic arthritis.

Id., p. 15, 1. 18 to p. 16, l. 16.

Dr. Selznick did assign a 31% whole person impairment rating to Mr. Andrews' low back injury and a 22% whole person impairment rating for his right knee, for a total impairment of 46% per the Guide to Evaluation Permanent Impairment 6<sup>th</sup> Edition, for the March 17, 2009 accident. *Id., p. 14, l. 25 to p. 18, l. 21.* 

In addition, Dr. Selznick also opined that Mr. Andrews had further personal activity limitations in addition to the impairment he assigned. He further stated that he agreed completely with Dr. Nancy Collins' report and her opinion that Mr. Andrews' was completely disabled. *Id.*, *pp. 20-21*.

#### 2. Nancy Collins, Ph.D.

Dr. Nancy Collins is a highly qualified vocational rehabilitation expert with 30 years of experience in vocational rehabilitation. She is also a Certified Rehabilitation Counselor, Forensic Vocational Expert, ABDA Diplomat & Senior Disability Analyst, and Certified Life Care Planner.

Dr. Collins was retained by Steven Andrews to perform a disability evaluation in 2011, and on March 18, 2011 she issued a report. *See Deposition of Nancy J. Collins, Ph.D. ("Collins Deposition."), Exh. 1.* On July 10, 2013 she met with Mr. Andrews a second time to do a follow up evaluation, and on July 12, 2013 Dr. Collins provided an updated report regarding Mr. Andrews' employability and future vocational disability. *See Claimant's hearing Exh. A, Report of Nancy J. Collins, Ph.D.* 

As set forth in her reports, Dr. Collins performed a very thorough review of Mr. Andrews' medical records, all written discovery exchanged in this matter, Mr. Andrews' tax records, ICRD notes, Social Security Disability records and the vocational report by Delyn. D. Porter. In addition, Dr. Collins interviewed Mr. Andrews, once in 2011, and again in 2013. *See Claimant's hearing Exh. A.* 

Dr. Collins provided a detailed breakdown of her analysis of this case in her July 12, 2013 report, and reiterated the same in her deposition on August 19, 2015.

In addition to the restrictions imposed by Mr. Andrews' physicians, Dr. Collins also found that Mr. Andrews had subjective limitations as follows: Reduced physical stamina, he feels fatigued daily; loss of sensation in his left foot and left leg; he is unable to sit for periods of more than 30 minutes; he is unable to stand for more than 5 to 10 minutes at a time; he has difficulty walking and tends to stumble; he has pain with leaning back and reaching up; his dexterity is impaired due to arthritis in his fingers; he has difficulty stooping due to pain; he cannot squat; he is unable to climb hills or ladders due to knee pain; he has difficulty lifting more than 25 pounds; he is unable to bend or twist due to pain; he cannot crawl or kneel due to knee pain and stiffness; he has difficulty with balance due to weakness in his left leg; he has headaches which increase with back tension; he has some bowel incontinence due to colonoscopy surgery which caused loss of sphincter control; he is unable to drive after taking his prescribed pain medication; and cold weather increases pain and stiffness. *Id., p. 1.* 

Dr. Collins also found that Mr. Andrews has severe functional limitations. She notes that Mr. Andrews has difficulty with personal hygiene and activities of daily living. He has trouble bending to put on his shoes and socks, and he has to lean against a wall to put his pants on. He is unable to do housework that requires lifting anything heavy or bending or kneeling. He is no longer able to garden, do yard work or hunt or fish as he used to do. *Claimant's hearing Exh. A, p. 5.* 

In her deposition on August 19, 2015, Dr. Collins provided a succinct summary of Mr.

Andrews pre-existing injuries as follows:

- Q. So go through with us, if you can, what his pre-2009, pre that industrial accident that happened in 2009, what impediments or limitations he would have Mr. Andrews would have had to access to the labor market because of preexisting conditions or restrictions?
- A. Well, he had a significant right knee condition. He had injuries in 1984, 1987, 1991; had complained about it for many years. He had a left knee surgery in 1993, but his right knee seemed to be the one that caused him the most problem the most difficulty.

And he did tell me during the interview that he was – had a really difficult time squatting, crouching, kneeling before the accident and would make accommodations if those – if that position was required. It also caused him to have some difficulty climbing and standing for long periods.

He also had previous back injuries and surgeries. He had a surgery, I think, in '92 and '94 and then again in 2007.

And, again, he discussed that in his job he'd been there – well, he worked there for like 25 years. He – and he was a supervisor, so he was able to delegate work that he felt was too heavy, or if it required kneeling, squatting, twisting, bending. But he felt like he was still able to do his job, and his expertise allowed him to still be a valuable worker.

He also had pretty significant foot problems that are discussed in the records in 1999, 2000, and 2004. He'd had surgeries. In the records it talks about that he had difficulty wearing open-toed shoes. When I met him, he had sandals on. If he did have to wear a closed-toe boot or shoe, it had to be, I think, three times – not his shoe size, but bigger than what he wore on – would wear traditionally.

And he limped, both because he had radicular pain down his leg from the 2009 injury, and then also because he had preexisting pain in his feet from those injuries or the conditions on his foot.

And then he had bilateral shoulder injuries, and I think surgeries on both. And those had gone pretty well. He'd returned to work after all these surgeries, and in the records he would request a return to work.

Collins Deposition, p. 6, l. 25 to p. 9., l. 12. [Emphasis added].

As Dr. Collins indicates in her deposition, due to his pre-existing conditions, Mr. Andrews was limited as to what job duties he was able to perform at the LDS church, and in the years preceding the 2009 accident he was able to modify his work duties to accommodate his objective and subjective limitations because he was working in a supervisory capacity and was able to delegate some of the heavier tasks. *Id., p. 10, l. 24 to p. 11, l. 8.* 

Dr. Collins is of the opinion that Mr. Andrews meets the criteria for an odd-lot worker. In addition to his many physical restrictions set forth above, Mr. Andrews has only a high school education and is dyslexic, he is unskilled in using a computer, typing, or any sort of office work, his interpersonal skills are limited and he is an older worker. In her deposition Dr. Collins testified as follows:

- Q. And after going through additional records in 2013, did you formulate an opinion as to whether or not Mr. Andrews would meet the category of an odd-lot worker at that time?
- A. I felt in 2013 that his condition had certainly not improved. In combining his restrictions from the back injury and considering all of the limitations he had with his feet, his knees, his shoulder, his neck, his chronic pain, his narcotic pain usage, his age, that it would be very difficult for him to find an employer to hire him, and he would need significant accommodations in any job.
- Q. And is it your opinion then that he meets the test for an odd-lot worker --
- A. It is.
- Q. -- for total disability?
- A. Yes.

Collins Deposition, p. 26, l.21 to p. 27, l. 11.

## 3. Delyn Porter

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