# Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

10-18-2016

# Andrews v. Industrial Special Indem. Fund Respondent's Brief 1 Dckt. 44241

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

## V. ARGUMENT

A. SUBSTANTIAL AND COMPETENT EVIDENCE WAS RELIED UPON BY THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION AND REFEREE POWERS IN FINDING AN ABSENCE OF A SUBJECTIVE HINDRANCE TO EMPLOYMENT.

In order to establish ISIF liability under I.C. § 7-332 a claimant must show: (1) A preexisting impairment, (2) the impairment was manifest, (3) the impairment was a subjective hindrance to employment, and (4) the impairment combines with the industrial accident in causing total and permanent disability. *Dunmaw v. J.L. Norton Loggin*, 118 Idaho 150, 795, P.2d 312 (1990).

Appellant first argues that he has established a subjective hindrance based upon preexisting impairment. In advancing this argument, Appellant leaves out that the Supreme Court reviews the

Commission's findings of fact "in the light most favorable to the prevailing party." *Stoddard*, 147 Idaho at 190, 207 P.3d at 166. After the factual finding is so viewed, a determination of whether substantial and competent evidence, which is defined as "relevant evidence which a reasonable mind might accept to support a conclusion", exists in the record to support the Industrial Commission's finding. *Jensen*, 135 Idaho at 410, 18 P.3d at 214.

In large measure, Appellant makes an argument which would necessitate the re-weighing of the evidence before the Industrial Commission. He points this Court to testimony and expert reports which he argues should be persuasive and ignores much of the evidence relied upon my Referee powers.

Referee Powers did, in fact, recognize the *hypothetical* ratings of Dr. Selznick. *See* R. 124 ¶ 64. Likewise, Referee Powers agrees that the preexisting conditions were manifest. *Id.* ¶ 65. However, he found that there was no subjective hindrance to employment. *Id.* 

Appellant cites to *Archer v. Bonners Ferry Datsun*, 117 Idaho 166, 786 P.2d 557 (1990), for the proper standard in determining whether a preexisting condition is a subjective hindrance. However, claimant only cited to a portion of the test and guidance provided by the Court. *Archer* held that the proper test was to determine "whether or not the pre-existing condition constituted a hindrance or obstacle to employment for the particular claimant." *Id.* at 172, 786 P.2d at 563. In providing guidance in applying the test the Court stated:

Under this test, evidence of the claimant's attitude toward the pre-existing condition, the claimant's medical condition before and after the injury or disease for which compensation is sought, nonmedical factors concerning the claimant, as well as expert opinions and other evidence concerning the effect of the pre-existing condition on the claimant's employability will all be admissible. *No* 

longer will the result turn merely on the claimant's attitude toward the condition and expert opinion concerning whether a reasonable employer would consider the claimant's condition to make it more likely that any subsequent injury would make the claimant totally and permanently disabled. The result now will be determined by the Commission's weighing of the evidence presented on the question of whether or not the pre-existing condition constituted a hindrance or obstacle to employment for the particular claimant.

# Id. (emphasis supplied).

Referee Powers cited to both the testimony of the Appellant and his experts in support of his finding. He stated, "Claimant's own testimony, bolstered by Dr. Selznick, is fairly clear that he was doing his job without any physicians-imposed restrictions at the time of his accident of March 17, 2009." R. 124-125 ¶ 65. He also recognized that certain accommodations may have been afforded from time to time. *Id.* However, under the circumstances of this particular claimant, Referee Powers found that such accommodations were not unusual for a "valued and worthwhile employee of Employer and his supervisory position." *Id.* 

The records before the Court are filled with substantial and competent evidence which support Referee Powers finding. Dr. Selznick testified as follows with respect to Appellant's limitations:

- **Q.** But as far as looking at these restrictions, that would be consistent with the type of surgery that Mr. Andrews was required to have?
- **A.** For my own patients that I've performed lumbosacral fusion on in the past, I think her restrictions are actually quite generous. I would never even put down 50 pounds with a co-worker. I would be closer to the lower limits in my own clinical practice, with all honesty, rather than the maximum limits that you noted.
- **Q.** In any event, these limits or the lower limits you've spoken of that you would have put into place were the result of the surgery necessitated by the industrial accident?

**A.** More likely than not, yeah. It's a very extensive surgery to have three motion segments in your low back fused.

Selznick Deposition (28:20-25; 29:1-11).

Dr. Selznick also testified that Appellant was "grossly asymptomatic" at the time of the industrial accident and that he could work without restriction.

Q. Take a look at page 16 of that same report [Hearing Exhibit B] 5 for me, Doctor. And in the second to last paragraph at the bottom in the last sentence, you indicate that he was grossly asymptomatic for the 18-month period prior to the subject industrial incident. And what do you mean by "grossly asymptomatic"?

**A.** He wasn't receiving active low back directed treatment. *He was able to continue with his vocational and avocational activities without restriction.* That's grossly asymptomatic.

Id. (25:4-13) (emphasis supplied).

Q. And, in fact, in -- on page 16 at the bottom of the first paragraph, you opine that the surgery and treatment received after the industrial accident should be attributed in its entirety to the March of 2009 industrial accident; is that correct?

A. Correct

Id. (25:23-25; 26:1-3).

**Q.** And given these representations, Doctor, is -- did he appear to be under any limitations with respect to his back before the date of this industrial accident?

**A.** What he related to me was that he was working full time for the Church of Latter-day Saints up and through subject accident as a maintenance mechanic. He related to me no issues with his low back, and I have no reason to disagree with him that he had on average zero of ten pain. If I recall correctly, he was doing maintenance on up to 26 buildings, and he was with the church as a long-term employee for upwards of 20 years....

Id. (24:9-21).

Appellant testified, at the time of hearing, that his left knee was fine at the time of the subject accident. *Hearing Transcript* (59:11-15). He attributed his current problems with is left knee to arthritis. *Id.* (59:19-21). He does not attribute his difficulties with this knee to his most recent back surgery. *Id.* Likewise, Appellant testified he had not been disqualified for any jobs due to left knee problems. *Id.* (62:11-13). Appellant chose to have his right knee replaced because he "was still on Church insurance." *Id.* (58:8-21).

All of these statements, among others, provide substantial and competent evidence to support Referee Powers' findings. When viewing this testimony in a light most favorable to the ISIF, competent evidence exists to support Referee Powers' statement that "Claimant testified to the effect that he was fine before his 2009 accident" and "virtually all of Claimant's current restriction stem from hiss 2009 back and right knee injuries alone." R. at 125 ¶65.

The testimony before the Commission certainly constitutes "relevant evidence which a reasonable mind might accept to support a conclusion." *Jensen*, 135 at 410, 18 P.3d at 214. In sum, Referee Powers did precisely what the *Archer* case directs. He weighed the evidence presented on the issue and made a determination with respect to this particular claimant.

Appellant advocates for the precise result which *Archer* seeks to avoid. He spends a great deal of time setting forth statements from Dr. Collins report and testimony from Appellant. This analysis ignores the statement in *Archer* that this determination is not to be controlled by claimant's attitude or expert opinion. Instead a weighing of all the admissible evidence is to be undertaken.

In the case at hand, it is clear that Referee Powers found the testimony of Dr. Selznick and Appellant to weigh in favor of his determination that no subjective hindrance had been established.

In sum, Appellant is asking this Court to re-weigh the evidence. Such an approach is not supported by the standard of review or the evidence produced to the Industrial Commission.

Appellant also argues the Commission was required to accept the allegation of a subjective hindrance because it has "not been contradicted." *Appellant's Opening Brief* p. 27. Nothing could be further from the truth. Dr. Selznick's examination of Appellant contradicts the testimony of other experts.

Dr. Selznick attempted to opine that the right knee was exacerbated by the industrial accident. However, he was unable to offer anything other than the timing of the subjective increase in symptomology and his examination with respect to flexion. *Selznick Deposition* (31-33). He also readily admitted that arthritis is a degenerative disease and that his examination would be consistent with normal denegation of that condition. *Id.* 

Dr. Selznick further failed to note in his deposition that the knee was limited in flexion due to knee replacement which occurred in 2010. Claimant reported that the stiffness was due to the artificial knee. *Hearing Transcript* (59:9-10). Appellant's analysis also ignores Dr. Selznick's testimony, outlined above, that Appellant had been asymptomatic for some time before his 2009 industrial accident.

Clearly substantial and competent evidence exists to support the finding of the Industrial Commission. When the facts are viewed in favor of the ISIF it is clear that the findings must be upheld.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> It must be noted that whether or not the physical conditions were a hindrance to employment is not dispositive of the case. The Commission also found that there was no combination. As such, upholding the decision below does not hinge on this point alone.

# B. SUBSTANTIAL AND COMPETENT EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION'S FINDING THAT THE SUBJECT INDUSTRIAL ACCIDENT DID NOT COMBINE WITH PREEXISTING IMPAIRMENTS.

Appellant next takes issues with the Industrial Commission's finding that Appellant failed to establish that but for his pre-existing impairment he would not be totally and permanently disabled. Appellant argues that "bur for Mr. Anders' pre-existing conditions, the 2009 accident would not have rendered him totally and permanently disabled." *Appellant's Opening Brief* p. 32. This argument ignores testimony provided by Dr. Collins, a vocational expert retained by Appellant.

#### Dr. Collins testified as follows:

- Q. Now, as a result of the industrial accident, he had a bilateral hemi laminectomy with nerve root decompression, correct?
- A. Yes.
- Q. That was at L3-4?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Okay. Which has, in part, sciatic nerve which sends pain into your leg and foot; is that correct?
- A. Yes.
- Q. And as a result of the restrictions from the back, out of your report, he was restricted to 35 pounds lifting -- up to 35 pounds, correct?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Sitting one to three hours?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Standing one to three hours?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Driving one to three hours?
- A. Correct.
- Q. Walking one to three hours?
- A. Yes.
- Q. He had limits on bending, correct?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Stooping?
- A. Yes.

- Q. Pushing?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Pulling?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Twisting?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Climbing?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Squatting?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Kneeling?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Reaching?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Grasping?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Repetitious movements?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Okay. He was not -- he had no balancing he was to do no balancing, correct?
- A. Yes.
- Q. No crawling?
- A. Correct.
- Q. And he had to have frequent changes of position?
- A. Correct.
- Q. Okay. Now, I think you have provided in your reports that he was
- 55 at the time you saw him?
- A. I think he was 53.
- Q. 53. But he looked much older?
- A. Yes.
- Q. He was very large?
- A. Yes.
- Q. He was using a staff?
- A. He was.
- Q. Okay. He had the long, white beard?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Long, white hair?
- A. Yes.
- Q. He was in constant pain?
- A. Yes.
- Q. And he was taking medications for his back?

- A. Correct.
- Q. He was taking Lyrica; is that correct?
- A. Yes.
- O. And Percocet?
- A. Yes.
- Q. He had radiating pain to his left foot?
- A. Yes.
- Q. He needed to nap during the course of the day?
- A. Yes.
- Q. He had left foot drop?
- A. He did.
- Q. Okay. He suffers from dyslexia?
- A. Yes.
- Q. And reading problems?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Okay. With those factors alone, just those factors alone, can you tell me a job that's available to him in the Pocatello labor market?
- A. Well, the only job that I can think he might be able to do is some kind of -- not commercial driving job, but some kind of light shuttle or van or -- but, again, he would have the narcotics to consider.
- Q. That's the Percocet and the Lyrica --
- A. Yes.
- Q. -- is that correct?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Any other jobs?
- A. No

Collins Deposition (38:19-25; 39-41; 42:1-13). Clearly, in response to questions related to the limitations of the industrial accident alone, Dr. Collins agreed no jobs were available to Appellant.

It is also worth noting that Dr. Selznick's testimony with respect to aggravation of Appellant's right knee is far less concrete than represented.

- Q. And his right knee was not hurt in the industrial accident; is that correct?
- A. The right knee itself was not injured, but in a way, he's an eggshell plaintiff because he had an arthritic in that knee. That was asymptomatic. And it became symptomatic after subject accident. The knee with the flexion contracture -- if he had the other knee to bear some of the stress and force, he'd be fine. But in this case, the records clearly

show progressive right knee symptomatology.

**Q.** And the osteoarthritic condition of his right is a progressive disease. It gets worse over time; correct?

**A.** Osteoarthritis of the knee can get worse over time objectively, but not always do patients have increasing pain. And I -- of those 20 patients I saw in the office today, one is a 92-year-old gentleman who I think you know, and his knees are awful on x-ray, but he's only now coming in for treatment, and I gave him an injection. But I ensure you, his x-rays looked pretty bad ten years ago, but he didn't have issues ten years ago.

**Q.** I understand that, but at any rate, it is a degenerative condition; correct?

A. Yes.

Selznick Deposition, (32:17-25), (33:1-16).

Dr. Selznick's medical opinion is revealed to be much less clear than Appellant argues. Not only does Dr. Selznick testify that he believes there was an aggravation, he admits that predicting when an arthritic knee will need intervention is very unpredictable. In other words, his testimony supports the conclusion that degeneration due to the arthritic condition alone could be a cause of Appellant's right knee trouble. It is also worth noting that Dr. Selznick agrees that the right knee was asymptomatic at the time of the industrial accident. Dr. Selznick's opinions were, in large measure, hypothetical and this certainly would have impacted the weight Referee Powers decided to assign to his testimony.

Appellant also cites to *Green v. Green*, Opinion No. 48 (April 26, 2016) in support of his argument. However, contrary to Appellant's representation, this decision weighs in favor of upholding the Industrial Commission in this case. In *Green* this Court looked at "the whole" of the Commission's decision to determine if the "but for" test had been properly applied. *Green*, p. 12.

Where a claimant's total and permanent disability arises solely from pre-existing conditions, solely from the industrial accident or disease, from post injury changes in health, or from a combination of pre-existing and past injury problems, the ISIF is not responsible for any combined effects. *See Garcia v. J.R. Simplot Co.*, 115 Idaho 966, 722 P.2d 173 (1989). In the case at hand, Referee Powers properly applied the test.

In analyzing the "but for" requirement Dr. Collins' testimony was considered and directly quoted. Specifically, in Paragraph 69 of the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, Referee Powers correctly states that Dr. Collins testified Appellant's 2009 back injury and resulting restrictions rendered Appellant totally and permanently disabled. R. 126 ¶ 69; *Collins Deposition* (38:19-25; 39-41; 42:1-13).³ In paragraph 16 and 18 the Referee clearly identified testimony relating to Appellant's condition at the time of the accident. R. 111. Referee Powers also thoroughly considered each vocational expert. R. 112-122. When the ruling below is viewed as a whole, it is clear that Referee Powers did precisely what *Green* requires. He did not limit himself to a simple medical inquiry and considered the opinions and statements of vocational experts and the testimony of Appellant as well.

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